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BERGER, Justice:



The fraud underlying these irregularities is discussed in detail in In re Lernout & Hauspie1

Securities Litigation, 208 F.Supp. 2d 74 (D. Mass. 2002).
2

In this appeal we consider whether a default judgment in excess of $750 million

must be vacated.  Appellant raised numerous arguments in the Court of Chancery, and

again on appeal, such as defects in the service of process, the alleged unenforceability

of any judgment, and excusable neglect.  The trial court correctly rejected those

arguments.  We conclude, however, that the complaint on which the default judgment

was predicated fails to allege fraud with particularity, as required by Court of

Chancery Rule 9(b).  Accordingly, we must vacate the default judgment and allow the

matter to proceed in the trial court.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In May 2001, Stonington Partners, Inc., Stonington Appreciation 1994 Fund,

L.P. and Stonington Holdings, L.L.C. (collectively “Stonington”) exchanged their

96% interest in Dictaphone Corporation (“Dictaphone”) for $490 million of  Lernout

& Hauspie Speech Products, N.V. (“L&H”) stock.    L&H obtained the remaining 4%

of Dictaphone’s stock through the cash-out merger of Dictaphone into a wholly-

owned L&H subsidiary.  

Six months after the exchange, L&H announced that it had restated its financial

statements for the period from January 1998 through June 2000 because of

“accounting irregularities.”     Shortly after the restatement, which eliminated 70% of1
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the company’s publicly reported revenues, L&H filed for bankruptcy both in the

United States and in Belgium.  The net result was that the L&H stock Stonington

received in the stock-for-stock exchange was rendered worthless.

Stonington filed this action in the Court of Chancery on November 27, 2000,

against L&H and its executives:  Jozef Lernout, Pol Hauspie, Gaston Bastiaens and

Nico Willaert.  Stonington claimed that defendants were liable for the damages it

suffered when L&H went bankrupt because it would not have entered into the

transaction if L&H had not misled Stonington as to its true financial position.

Stonington sought rescission of the stock-for-stock exchange or, in the alternative,

damages measured by the market value of the L&H stock it was entitled to receive

under the agreement. 

Two days after Stonington began this action,  L&H filed for bankruptcy,

thereby staying the proceedings against the company.  Lernout, Hauspie and Willaert

were served with process on December 6, 2000, but they failed to appear or otherwise

respond to the complaint.  Bastiaens entered an appearance and then removed the

action to federal court.  The other three individual defendants never appeared in

federal court, and the federal court entered defaults against them in April 2001.  In

September 2001, this case was remanded to the Court of Chancery because Bastiaens

failed to comply with the requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1446 governing removal of
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actions.

Stonington resumed litigation in the Court of Chancery by moving for default

judgments against Willaert, Hauspie and Lernout.  Willaert finally entered an

appearance on  January 14, 2002, and, at the same time, filed his opposition to the

motion for default judgment.   The Court of Chancery granted the motion and awarded

damages, together with pre- and post-judgment interest.   After Willaert perfected his2

appeal, the parties stipulated to a stay pending settlement discussions. Briefing and

argument on this appeal resumed in August 2007.

DISCUSSION

Willaert failed to respond to Stonington’s complaint for more than one year.

Thus, Stonington established a basis for the entry of a default judgment.    The effect3

of a default in answering, however, is to deem admitted all the well-pleaded facts in

the complaint.   A plaintiff is only entitled to a default judgment if those facts, taken4

together, state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  5

The Stonington complaint purports to allege fraud.  To state a claim for fraud



 Gaffin v. Teledyne, Inc., 611 A.2d 467, 472 (Del. 1992).6
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a plaintiff must allege: 

1) a false representation, usually one of fact . . . ; 2) the
defendant’s knowledge or belief that the representation was false,
or was made with reckless indifference to the truth; 3) an intent to
induce the plaintiff to act or to refrain from acting; 4) the
plaintiff’s action or inaction taken in justifiable reliance upon the
representation; and 5) damage to the plaintiff as a result of such
reliance.6

In addition, Court of Chancery Rule 9(b) provides that, “in all averments of fraud   .

. . the circumstances constituting fraud must be pled with particularity.  Malice, intent,

knowledge and other condition of mind of a person may be averred to generally.”

This pleading standard “serves to discourage the initiation of suits brought solely for

their nuisance value, and safeguards potential defendants from frivolous accusations

of moral turpitude.”    7

The first issue on appeal is whether the heightened pleading standard of Rule

9(b) applies in the context of default judgments.  The trial court determined that the

complaint adequately stated a claim under notice pleading standards.  It did not reach

the particularity pleading standard, finding that Willaert waived any Rule 9(b)

argument by his failure to timely respond to the complaint.   But all defendants facing

a default judgment will have failed to timely respond to the complaint.  Thus, the trial



Nishimatsu Const. Co., Ltd. v. Houston Nat. Bank, 515 F.2d 1200 at 1206.8

See, e.g.: In re Kubick, 171 B.R. 658 (9th Cir.BAP (Alaska) 1994) (holding that a default9
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court  effectively decided that default judgments are not evaluated by reference to any

heightened pleading requirements.  

We reach a different conclusion.  “[A] default is not treated as an absolute

confession by the defendant of his liability and of the plaintiff’s right to recover      .

. . .  Although he may not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence, [the defendant]

is entitled to contest the sufficiency of the complaint . . . .”   If a complaint alleges8

fraud, the sufficiency of that complaint ordinarily would be measured by the

heightened pleading standards governing fraud claims.  There is no reason why a

different standard should apply in the context of default judgments.  Indeed, other

jurisdictions that have considered this question consistently hold that entry of a default

judgment requires strict conformity with all procedural requirements, including the

pleading standard for claims of fraud.9

The next question is whether Stonington’s complaint adequately alleges fraud.

The complaint alleges, in some detail, that material misrepresentations as to L&H’s

financial condition were made to Stonington; that those misrepresentations were
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intended to, and did, induce Stonington to enter into the stock-for-stock exchange; and

that Stonington suffered damages.   But, to state a claim for fraud, the complaint also10

must allege that Willaert knew that the financial representations were false.  On this

point, the complaint alleges that “L&H and its executives were deliberately hiding the

fact that the reported revenue numbers were . . . inflated . . .;”  “L&H executives11

deliberately misled Stonington . . . into believing that L&H was financially sound . .

.;” and “L&H knew that such statements and omissions were false and misleading .12

. . .”   Notably absent is any allegation that Willaert knew that the financial statements13

and other revenue numbers were inaccurate.

    Stonington argues that, because the complaint alleges that Willaert was a

Managing Director, vice chairman, and director of L&H, it is clear that he is one of

the “executives”  who “deliberately misled” Stonington.  It might be reasonable to

infer, from Willaert’s company positions and from the fact that he is named as a

defendant, that he is one of the “executives” being charged with wrongdoing.

Likewise, it is fairly inferrable  that one or more L&H insiders knew that its financial

statements were grossly inflated.  The complaint describes discrepancies in L&H’s



Trenwick American Litigation Trust v. Ernst & Young, L.L.P., 906 A.2d 168, 207-08 (Del. Ch.14

2006), aff’d. 931 A.2d 438 (Del. 2007).
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stated revenues from Asia, and suggests that a fund founded by Lernout and Hauspie

was tied to the start-up Asian companies that supposedly generated the bulk of L&H’s

revenues.  The complaint goes on to allege that, as the financial irregularities started

becoming public, first Bastiaens and later Lernout and Hauspie resigned their

positions as CEO and Managing Directors,  respectively.  

Willaert, by contrast, is never mentioned.  There is no description of either his

general responsibilities at L&H or his actual participation in the transaction at issue.

 Moreover,  L&H had outside auditors as well as an audit committee.  As a result,

even if we assume that Willaert made representations about the accuracy of the

company’s financial statements, there is no reason to infer that he knew that those

representations were false.  In sum, the general allegations that L&H’s executives

deliberately misled Stonington, without more specificity as to what Willaert did and

what he knew, does not satisfy the Rule 9(b) particularity requirement.14

 As noted at the outset, Willaert raised several additional arguments in support

of his contention that the default judgment should be vacated.  We affirm the trial

court’s decisions on those issues on the basis of and for the reasons stated in its

opinion.

CONCLUSION
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Based on the foregoing, we AFFIRM in part, REVERSE in part, and REMAND

with instructions to grant appellees leave to amend their complaint. Jurisdiction is not

retained.


